0+7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

15 1992

LERK SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL JOHN MANNING,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 79,603

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Governmental Center/9th Floor
301 North Olive Avenue
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-2150

ALLEN J. DeWEESE Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Petitioner

TABLE OF IS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida, and the appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the prosecution and the appellant below.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbol will be used:

R = Record on Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Michael John Manning was charged with purchase of cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school (R 21). He pled guilty (R 32). His presumptive guidelines sentence was 3½ to 4½ years in prison, with a permitted sentence of 3 to 5½ years (R 28). He filed a motion for downward departure from the guidelines based on Section 397.12, Florida Statutes, alleging that Petitioner was addicted to alcohol and drugs, was under the influence of alcohol when arrested, and was receiving rehabilitative treatment (R 23-27).

The motion to depart downward was granted and Petitioner was placed on probation for 2½ years (R 32). The court entered a written order of departure, stating as grounds that Petitioner was addicted and under the influence of intoxicants at the time of his arrest, that he was impaired and his judgment was severely compromised, that he was in danger of becoming dependent but desired treatment and rehabilitation for his addiction and was amenable to rehabilitation, that Petitioner did not know that he was within 1,000 feet of a school and that school was not in session at the time of his arrest, and that Petitioner had already spent seven months in jail. The order cited section 397.12 of the statutes and case law, including Barbera v. State, 505 So.2d 413 Special conditions of Petitioner's 1987) (R 29-31). probation included evaluation for alcohol, drug and psychological rehabilitation; submission to drug and alcohol testing; and continuance in the BARC program (R 32-33).

The state appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. On March 25, 1992 the court reversed the downward departure, but certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance (copy of opinion in Appendix to this brief):

MAY A TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DEPART FROM THE MINIMUM MANDATORY PROVISIONS OF SECTION 893.13(1)(e), FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF THE DRUG REHABILITATION PROVISION OF SECTION 397.12, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989)?

The opinion cited previous decision of the Fourth District which are now under review by this Court. State v. Liataud, 587 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (Supreme Court Case No. 78,626); State v. Scates, 585 So.2d 385 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (Supreme Court Case No. 78,533); State v. Lane, 582 So.2d 77 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (Supreme Court Case No. 78,534).

On March 25, 1992 the state filed notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction. On April 28, 1992 the state filed a notice of voluntary dismissal. Petitioner then filed an unopposed motion for substitution of parties and for new briefing schedule. By order filed June 8, 1992 this Court granted the state's voluntary dismissal and Mr. Manning's motion for substitution of parties. Mr. Manning was redesignated as Petitioner and the state was redesignated as Respondent.¹

¹ After the state's notice of voluntary dismissal was filed, Petitioner filed a notice of intent to invoke discretionary jurisdiction in the district court, which was then forwarded to this Court and assigned Case No. 79,802. Since this notice was not timely, this Court by order filed May 26, 1992 dismissed it, subject to reinstatement if timeliness could be shown. On June 2, 1992 Petitioner filed an unopposed motion for reinstatement. However, after this Court granted substitution of parties under Case No. 79,603, Petitioner filed on June 11, 1992 a notice of voluntary dismissal and of abandonment of motion for reinstatement.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court was within the authority granted to it by the legislature when it employed Section 397.12, Florida Statutes (1989) to implement its decision not to impose the three year mandatory minimum sentence otherwise applicable to Petitioner's conviction for purchasing cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY USED SECTION 397.012, <u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u> (1989) TO AUTHORIZE ITS AVOIDANCE OF THE THREE YEAR MANDATORY SENTENCE OTHERWISE APPLICABLE TO PETITIONER'S CONVICTION FOR VIOLATION OF SECTION 893.13(1)(e), <u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u> (1989). 2

Section 397.011(2), Florida Statutes (1989) provides (emphasis added):

It is the intent of the Legislature to provide an alternative to criminal imprisonment for individuals capable of rehabilitation as citizens through techniques useful generally available in state or local prison systems. For a violation of any provision of Chapter 893, Florida Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act, relating to possession of any substance regulated thereby the trial judge may, in his discretion, require the defendant to participate in a drug treatment program licensed by the Department Health and Rehabilitative Services, pursuant to the provisions of this chapter, provided the director of such program approves the placement of the defendant in such program. Such required participation may be imposed in addition to or in lieu of any penalty or probation, and program participation may not exceed the maximum length of sentence possible for the offense.

In addition, Section 397.10, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1989) continues with the following expression of legislative intent:

It is the intent of the Legislature to provide a meaningful alternative to criminal imprisonment for individuals capable of rehabilitation as useful citizens through techniques and programs not generally available in state or federal prison systems or programs operated by the Department of

This issue is also pending before this Court in <u>Scates v.</u>
State, Case No. 78,533; <u>Liautaud v. State</u>, Case No. 78,626; <u>Lane v. State</u>, Case No. 78,534; <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, Case No. 78,916; <u>Forrest v. State</u>, Case No. 78,955; and <u>Vola v. State</u>, Case No. 79,455.

Health and Rehabilitative Services. It is the further intent of the Legislature to encourage trial judges to use their discretion to refer persons charged with, or convicted of, violation of laws relating to drug abuse or violation of any law committed under the influence of a narcotic drug or medicine to a state licensed drug rehabilitation program in lieu of, or in addition to, imposition of criminal penalties.

Thus, it is the policy of this state, as expressed in the above-cited statutes, that persons found to be in violation of Chapter 893, Florida Statutes (1989) should not be imprisoned, but, in the trial court's discretion, should be alternatively sentenced to a program of rehabilitation which fits the offender's needs. This intent is implemented by way of Section 397.12, Florida Statutes (1989), which provides (emphasis added):

When any person, including any juvenile, has been charged with or convicted of, a violation of any provision of Chapter 893, or of a violation of any law committed under the influence of a controlled substance, the court, Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, Department of Corrections, or Parole Commission, whichever has jurisdiction over that person, may in its discretion, require that the person charged or convicted to participate in a drug treatment program licensed by the department under the provisions of this Chapter. If referred by the court, the referral may be in lieu of, or in addition to, final adjudication, imposition of any penalty or sentence, or any other similar action. If the accused desires final adjudication, his constitutional right to trial shall not be denied. The court may consult with, or seek the assistance of any agency, public or private, or any person concerning such a referral. Assignment to a drug program may be contingent upon budgetary considerations and availability of space.

In its 1988 session, the legislature left Chapter 397.12 as a viable alternative to sentencing of drug abusers under Chapter 893. Chapter 88-122, <u>Laws of Florida</u>.

Here, the trial court exercised the discretion granted to it by this legislative scheme. Petitioner pled guilty to the offense of purchasing cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school, a first degree felony punishable by up to thirty years imprisonment, a minimum mandatory sentence of three calendar years, and an automatic presumptive sentence of three and a half to four and a half years incarceration (R 21, 32). In its order of departure, the trial court found that Petitioner suffered from substance abuse addiction and was under the influence of intoxicants at the time of his arrest, and that Petitioner did not have full control over his faculties and was impaired to the extent his judgment was severely compromised. The court found that Petitioner was in imminent danger of becoming dependent, but that he desired treatment and rehabilitation and was amenable and capable of rehabilitation (R 29-31).

Consequently, Petitioner was an excellent candidate for the application of Chapter 397. In order to implement the legislatively approved rehabilitative goals of the statute, the trial court adjudged him guilty of purchasing cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school and placed him on probation for two and a half years, with special conditions that he submit to evaluation for alcohol, drug, and psychological rehabilitation; submit to drug and alcohol testing; and continue in the BARC program (R 32-33).

This disposition was justified in the court's written order. The fact that Petitioner was under the influence and impaired at the time of his arrest was a valid reason for downward departure.

Barbera v. State, 505 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1987). Also valid reasons were the trial court's findings that Petitioner was not a threat

to society, that he sincerely desired rehabilitation and treatment, and that he was amendable to rehabilitation. This, too, has been held a sufficient basis for departure. State v. Sachs, 524 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1988).

The question certified in the instant case is the same as that certified in State v. Scates, 585 So.2d 385 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). The Scates decision relied in part on State v. Ross, 447 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). That case, however, deals with a robbery prosecution, not one for violation of the drug abuse laws contained in Chapter 893. The latter, but not the former, are expressly mentioned in the statement of legislative intent contained in Section 397.011(2). The latter, but not the former, are specifically named in Section 397.12 itself: "a violation of any provision of Chapter 893." Thus, Ross is not applicable to the present case, which falls directly within the operation of Chapter 397 by its express terms.

Ross is further distinguished from the instant case by operation of Section 948.01(13), Florida Statutes (1991), which provides:

If it appears to the court upon a hearing that the defendant is a chronic substance abuser whose criminal conduct is a violation of chapter 893, the court may either adjudge the defendant guilty or stay and withhold the adjudication of guilt; and, in either case, it may stay and withhold the imposition of sentence and place the defendant on drug offender probation.

The authorization provided by this statute is limited solely to violations of Chapter 893 and could, therefore, not assist the defendant in Ross. It is, by its own terms, however, applicable

to all drug offenders, no matter what subsection of Chapter 893 defines their offense.

Section 948.01(13 is entirely consistent with the legal effect of the omission from the mandatory minimum prison terms defined in Section 893.13(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1989), of the prohibition, found in Sections 893.135 [drug trafficking], 784.08(3) [crimes committed against the elderly], 775.087 [crimes committed with firearm], and 775.0823 [violent crimes against law enforcement officers], Florida Statutes (1989), that the mandatory minimum sentence "shall not be suspended, deferred or withheld." In contrast with each of these statutes, Section 893.13(1)(e) is conspicuous by the fact that these words precluding the trial judge from staying, suspending, or withholding the mandatory sentence are absent.

The restrictive language contained in the other mandatory minimum statutes cannot be implied against the instant statute which does not utilize it. As stated in <u>St. George Island Ltd. v.</u> Rudd, 547 So.2d 958, 961 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989):

Where the legislature uses exact words in different statutory provisions, the court may assume they were intended to mean the same thing. • Moreover, the presence of a term in one portion of a statute and its absence from another argues against reading it as implied by the section from which it is omitted.

Since it must be presumed that the legislative inclusion of the proscription against suspending, deferring or withholding sentence has meaning where it is added to a penal statute, the exclusion of that sentence from a similar penal statute likewise must have meaning, namely, that such suspension, deferral, or withholding of the sentence is **not** precluded. Thus, the trial judge sentencing

a defendant for a drug transaction committed within 1,000 feet of a school is still empowered to suspend, defer, or withhold the mandatory sentence which must otherwise be imposed.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in sentencing Petitioner because the instant offense is one which is included within the range of offenses for which alternative treatment is provided for under Section 397.12. Moreover, the trial court was empowered to suspend, withhold or defer, Petitioner's mandatory sentence and place Petitioner on probation. Petitioner's sentence in conformity with the statutory scheme must therefore be upheld, and the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal rejecting his argument should be quashed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, Appellant respectfully requests this Court to reverse the judgment and sentence of the trial court and to remand this cause with proper directions.