IN "HE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,603

MICHAEL JOHN MANNING,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHELLE A. SMITH Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Ave., Suite 204 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Florida Bar #881235 (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

<u>I OF CONTENTS</u>

TABLE OF CITATIONSiiPRELIMINARY STATEMENT,1SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT2ARGUMENT.3 -10

POINT ON APPEAL

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DEPARTING DOWNWARD FROM THE THREE YEAR MANDATORY MINIMUM SENTENCE AND IN SENTENCING PETITIONER ALTERNATIVELY PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTES SECTION 397.12.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the Prosecution in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Criminal Division, in and for Broward County, Florida. The Petitioner was the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and the Defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit **Court** of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before the Supreme Court of Florida except that Respondent may also be referred to as the State. The Petitioner may be referred to **as** Ms. Manning.

The	following s	ymbols	s will k	be used:		
"R"		Reco	ord on A	Appeal		
"PB'		Peti	ltioner	's Brief	on the M	erits
۲٦	emphagig	hag	heen	added	unlegg	otherwise

All emphasis has been added unless otherwise indicated.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court of Appeal was correct in reversing and remanding Petitioner for resentencing to **a** term which includes the mandatory minimum term of imprisonment for three calendar years in accordance with <u>Fla. Stat.</u> \$893.13(1)(e). Section 397.12 is not an exception to the minimum mandatory three year sentence required for conviction under Florida Statutes section \$93.13(1)(e), and therefore, the trial court erred in imposing a downward departure.

In addition, the Fourth District Court's decision must be upheld because the record lacks competent, substantial evidence to support a finding that a reasonable possibility exists that rehabilitation would be successful if Petitioner's sentence was seduced.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DEPARTING DOWNWARD FROM THE THREE YEAR MANDATORY MINIMUM SENTENCE AND IN SENTENCING PETITIONER ALTERNATIVELY PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTES SECTION 397.12.

At bar, Petitioner pled guilty to purchasing cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school in violation of section 893.13(1)(e)(1989) (R 5, 28). Section 893.13(1)(e) provides a mandatory minimum sentence of three calendar years for such a conviction. The trial court relied on <u>Barbera v. State</u>, 505 So. 2d 413 (Fla. **1987)** and Florida Statutes section 397.12 to circumvent the language of the statute imposing the three year mandatory sentence (R 15-16, 29-31). Petitioner was therefore sentenced to two and a half years probation for purchasing cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school (R 15, 28), in clear contravention of section 893.13(1)(e). A5 such, the trial court erred in imposing a downward departure sentence.

In <u>State v. Ross</u>, 407 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that section 397.12 does not provide an exception to the minimum mandatory sentencing requirements of section $893.13(1)(\oplus)$. In doing so, the Fourth District Court of Appeal looked at a very similar issue . In <u>Ross</u>, the defendant was found guilty of two firearm offenses requiring a mandatory minimum three year sentence. The trial court therein sentenced the defendant to probation and a drug rehabilitation program relying on Florida Statutes section **397.12.** In reviewing the defendant's sentence, the court in

- 3 -

<u>Ross</u> held that section 397.12 **was** not an exception to the mandatory sentencing requirements of the firearm sentencing statute. <u>Id</u>. at 1393.

Likewise at bar, and for the same reason cited in <u>Ross</u>, section 397.12 is not an exception to the minimum mandatory three year sentence required upon conviction of violating section 893.13(1)(e). As stated in <u>Ross</u>, section 893.13(1)(e)(1) is the later promulgated statute. It took effect as currently written on June 17, **1989**. Ch. **89-534**, **Laws of Florida (1989)**. Section 397.12 first appeared in similar form in 1973, and took effect on July 1, 1973. Ch. 73-75, Laws of Florida (1973). Therefore, section **893.13(1)(e)(1)** should prevail as the last expression of legislative will. <u>State v. Ross</u>, 447 So. 2d at 1382. As stated in **Ross**, "[t]he legislature, in passing the later statute, is presumed to know the earlier law. And, unless an explicit exception is made for an earlier statute, the later statute controls." **Id**.

Clearly, Florida Statutes section 893.12(1)(e)(1) is unambiguous. It provides that a defendant "shall be sentenced to a minimum *term* of imprisonment of three calendar years and shall not be eligible for parole or statutory gain time.... The statute's mandate is therefore clear. Minimum mandatory sentences are matters of legislative perogative that are nondiscretionary. <u>Charatz v. State</u>, 577 So. 2d 1298, 1299 (Fla. 1981). Merely because section 893.13(1)(e) does not state that the trial court shall <u>not</u> suspend, defer or withhold sentencing,

- 4 -

does not mean the trial court has discretion to avoid the minimum mandatory term. The word "shall" is mandatory. Well-settled rules of statutory construction require that the statute's terms be construed according to their plain meaning.

In addition, it is significant that there is no existing indication that the legislature intended section 397.12 to serve as an exception to section 893.13(1)(e)(1), a mandatory term of imprisonment. <u>Ross v. State</u>, **447** So. 2d at 1382-1383. Section 893.13, by its terms, is limited to <u>possession</u>. <u>See State v. Edwards</u>, 456 **So.** 2d **575** (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985). The present case involves a <u>purchase</u> within 1,000 feet of a school.

Even assuming that there is some inconsistency between sections 397 and 893, the statutes should be given the effect designed for them unless a contrary intent clearly appears. State v. Gadsden County, 63 Fla. 626, 58 So. 232, 235 (1912); State V., Dunmann, 427 **So.** 2d **166** (Fla. 1983). There is no positive or irreconcilable repugnancy between the provisions of sections 397 and 893. The first rule of statutory construction is that words are to be given their plain meaning. It is equally an axiom of statutory construction that an interpretation of ${\bf a}$ statute which leads to an unreasonable or ridiculous conclusion, or a result obviously not designed by the legislature, will not Drury v. Harding, 461 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 1984). be adopted. Furthermore, "when two statutes are inconsistent or in conflict, a more specific statute covering a particular subject, is controlling over a statutory provision covering the same subject

- 5 -

in more general terms." <u>American Healthcorp of Vero Beach, Inc.</u> <u>v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services</u>, 471 So. 2d 1312, <u>adopted</u>, 488 So. 2d 824 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). In such a case, the more narrowly-drawn statute operates as an exception to or qualification of the general terms of the more comprehensive statute. <u>Floyd v. Bently</u>, 496 So. 2d 862, <u>review denied</u>, 504 So. 2d 767 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986).

Florida Statutes section 397.12 (1989) refers to those people who have been convicted of a violation of any provision of chapter 893. This statute is general in its terms and refers generally to the law of the subject or to section 893. U.S. V. Rodriguez-Rodriguez, 863 F. 2d 830 (11th Cir. 1989). However, section 893.12, which was enacted in 1973 and became effective on July 1, 1973, states that a person who violates section 893.13(1)(f) or (1)(g) relating to possession may be required to participate in a drug rehabilitation program pursuant to chapter 397, at the discretion of the trial judge. Ch. 73-331, Laws of Florida. Statutes relating to the same subject and having the same purpose should be construed together if they are compatible, particularly where statutes are enacted at the same legislative session. Pichard v. Jax Liquors, Inc., 449 So. 2d 926, review denied, 511 So. 2d 298 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Reading the two statutes, in pari materia under the statutory construction principle of ejusdem generis (where general words or principles, when appearing in conjunction with particular classes of things. will not be considered broadly, but will be limited to the

- 6 -

meaning of the more particular and specific words), it is clear that the legislative intent was to limit section 397.12 to those defendants who violate section 893.13(1)(f) or (1)(g) by <u>possessing</u> contraband. This is also consistent with the general principle mentioned previously, that when two statutes are inconsistent or in conflict, a more specific statute covering a particular subject is controlling over a statutory provision covering the same subject in more general terms.

Clearly, section 893.13(1)(e) is unambiguous. The "shall be sentenced to a minimum term of statute states: imprisonment of 3 calendar years and shall not be eligible for parole ok statutory gain time.... Fla. Stat. §893.13(1)(e) The statute's mandate is clear! Using well-known (1989).statutory construction principles, one must conclude that section 397 is not an exception to the mandatory requirements of section 893.13(1)(e). Any other interpretation would lead to an absurd or unreasonable result and would render section 893.13(1)(e) purposeless. State v. Webb, 398 So. 2d 820, 824, (Fla. 1981), What would be the purpose having a minimum mandatory sentence if any defendant could declare his "heart felt" desire for rehabilitation and, thus, avoid the minimum mandatory? What defendant would not make such a declaration and what defense counsel would not instruct his client to make a declaration? The clear legislative intent behind section 893.13(1)(e) is to create a drug free zone around schools. This intent would be rendered meaningless were the minimum mandatory sentence so easily

- 7 -

avoided. Consequently, the plain meaning of the statute should prevail.

Based on the foregoing, Respondent maintains that, pursuant to <u>Ross</u>, <u>supra</u>, and the rules of statutory construction, Florida Statutes section 397.12 is not an exception to the mandatory requirements of section 893.13(1)(e)(1). As such, the sentence imposed in the trial court was an illegal sentence and the Fourth District Court of Appeal was correct in reversing and remanding Petitioner for resentencing to a term which includes the minimum term of three calendar years, in accordance with section 893.13(1)(e)(1).

However, even assuming arguendo that а downward departure in Petitoner's sentencing did not violate the mandatory minimum provision in section 893.13(1)(e), substance abuse, standing alone, will not justify a departure where the record lacks substantial, competent evidence to support a finding that a reasonable possibility exists that rehabilitation will be successful. Herrin v. State, 568 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 1980). This court in Herrin, modified Barbera v. State, 505 So. 2d 413 (Fla. 1987) by imposing two prerequisites which must be met before a downward departure sentence can be imposed: (1) a defendant's substance abuse must be considered along with (2) his or her amenability to rehabilitation. Herrin v. State, 568 So. 2d 922.

Petitioner testified that he started using alcohol since he was 14 years old, went into a two (2) year program at age 19, completed it and stayed clean for 13 years. He then had

- 8 -

two deaths in the family and did not know how to deal with it, so he started back using cocaine eight (8) years ago (R 8). However, at the time of this offense, Petitioner was not using cocaine (R 10), he had stopped using cocaine six or seven months before. (R 13).

Although there was testimony that Petitioner had been going to BARK and NA meetings (R 9) this new-found desire to achieve counselling only came about after this arrest, despite Petitioner's eight year drug binge. His previous two (2) years rehabilitation was triggered only by a previous arrest (R 12) and quickly terminated when things started going wrong in his life. Petitioner immediately began using drugs and continued for eight (8) years, culminating in his arrest. In fact, at the time of his arrest, Petitioner claims he was drunk, he had left to go get a prostitute, "when all of a sudden, he was arrested for crack cocaine" (R 14). Respondent maintains that the record is devoid of any evidence from which the trial court could find Petitioner amenable rehabilitation. Petitioner's desire for to rehabilitation seems only to be triggered once he has been arrested. Respondent submits that more that Petitioner's selfserving statements were necessary before the trial court could make an adequate finding that a reasonable possibility existed that he would be amenable to rehabilitation. In short, there is no competent substantial evidence to support a reasonable possibility that if the Petitioner's sentence was reduced in order to permit treatment for his dependency, such treatment

would be successful. Under these circumstances, to permit drug dependency to justify a departure in this case, would "thwart the guidelines purpose of providing more uniformity in sentencing". Consequently, under <u>Herrin</u>, the trial court erred in departing downward on the basis of substance abuse in this case.

Therefore, in light of the foregoing arguments, this Court must affirm the decision of the Fourth District Court reversing Petitioner's original sentence, and remanding for resentencing to a term which includes the minimum mandatory term of three calendar years.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing arguments and reasons cited herein, Petitioner respectfully request this Honorable Court to AFFIRM the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.